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Transmit Entertainment Limited
(Stock code: 1326)

As an enterprise with diversified development having a focus on
film, television and variety show content creation and production
with the spirit of business value “Enabling”, Transmit Entertainment
Limited principally engages in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; (iii) pan entertainment (including artiste and celebrity
agency business as well as pan entertainment businesses along
the value chain); and (iv) other businesses. The Group strives to
realize the development strategy in relation to the “Stay-at-Home
Economy” and brand diversity. In addition, the Group endeavors
to develop its self-owned full industry chain model and construct
a unigue soft power desirable to the Group through persistently
combined resources of scriptwriters, directors and artistes to offer
quality content, nurture talented artistes and explore, cultivate and
create popular film and television copyright.

Taking advantages of online platforms to cultivate new artistes and
celebrities, the Group will also proactively explore and develop its
self-owned retail brand targeting young consumers by continuously
identifying business opportunities in relation to the “Stay-at-Home
Economy” on four aspects including online streaming, short videos,
celebrity cultivation and traffic monetization with the aim to focus on
film, television and variety show as its business direction following
the Group's core. Meanwhile, the Group attaches great importance
to expanding its business dimension through collaboration with
partners and establishing more sophisticated upstream and
downstream industry chains by enriching the industry layout with
physical products, thereby seizing new opportunities arising from
the pan entertainment business.

FIRIREFR A

(R131R5% : 1326)

BEREARARE-RAZREATAIR
FEERXEENZTLEERER  TERS
(VEF  BERBIRGEN B EE  BITREK
BRRITREMA ¢ (BRI : (i)
IR (BRBAMLARLER  UREE
BTl ZRIREEET) - R(vVEMBET -
SEFNRERE [EXEIAEREZ T
MERRE  BEAFERARE  BERE
ABR HREEART  BEEFEA - &
& BEMBIFARERREANTEER S
EXREN  BEBAKEREHNHNES -

AEBEKTEENHAAIERERBENEE
ARALA - R ERRRMET & @ R FE50H
EENBEATEMM  WBERER ER
8~ AL ARAE A Ko & B3R PO {8 05 T #F AR UR
ZIEREIRE  WRTUEERPIE ¥
BESEBRUAXEXHER  ANERHEAS
ERERHOBENBRARBMNEREE - X
NERERSEEENR  FRBRATEN
FTHERRE  2HICEZREEBEEEEN
2B o



Corporate Information

RNAIER

Chairman’s Statement

FERE

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIEEREANT

Profile of Directors and Senior Management
EEREREREME

Report of the Directors

EEgHRE

Corporate Governance Report

rEEBRSE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
RE - g RERAWE

Independent Auditor’s Report

B AZ BN

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income

e iEn MEMEERER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
eI R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mEEREER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
meEREmER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR e ISR M EE

Financial Summary

T HE



Executive Directors HTES

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman) REBLE(FE)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President) WXL (4EE)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEMNEE
Independent Non-executive Directors BIFHTES
Mr. Wang Bo FREE

Mr. Xiang Feng Bl

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRS A

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (Chairman) SRR A (EE)
Mr. Wang Bo TR EE

Mr. Xiang Feng B3

Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman) EREE(EE)
Mr. Xiang Feng A 50 &=

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FEHRTE

Mr. Wang Bo (Chairman) FREE(EE)
Mr. Xiang Feng Al 52 &

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick TEHNEE

Ms. Lau Yee Wa RlmEL+

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FENREAE

Ms. Lau Yee Wa BllferzE 7+
Cricket Square Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive
PO Box 2681 PO Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111 Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands

TRANSMIT ENTERTAINMENT LIMITED Annual Report 2021/22



Room B, 14/F

Neich Tower

128 Gloucester Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

www.transmit-ent.com

Conyers Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F

Far East Finance Centre

16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited
1 Garden Road, Central
Hong Kong

China Construction Bank (Asia)
Corporation Limited

28/F, CCB Tower

3 Connaught Road Central

Central, Hong Kong

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu

Registered Public Interest Entity
Auditors

35/F, One Pacific Place

88 Queensway

Hong Kong

Sidley Austin
39/F, Two International Finance Centre
Central, Hong Kong

B

{7
HLITE128%
HLURE
14#8B=E

www.transmit-ent.com

Conyers Trust Company
(Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

PO Box 2681

Grand Cayman, KY1-1111

Cayman Islands

HEBSETARAT
BB

EREB165%

RES BT L

1718

FEIRIT(BB)ARLE
BB
RIRIEEE SR

B ERBRT(EEMN) BB
BRATE

EBPIR

FHHEH IR

B RRIRTT A E 281

=g e BAER A G ENIT
AR T ERE
BT

B

© B8 8857

AN &5 —EE35E

REFRMEHKA

BEPR
FER 2RO - H3918

BIRIREBR

B

7] 2021/22 F5;



On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Transmit
Entertainment Limited (“Transmit Entertainment” or the
“Company”), | am pleased to present to you the annual results of
the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended
30 June 2022.

During the year under review, the outlook of the global economy
encountered increased risks and uncertainty due to the impact of
the ongoing pandemic and rising inflation levels. Benefited by the
implementation of a number of policies and measures for growth
stabilization, China’'s economy is expected to recover strongly and
healthily on a continuing basis, sustaining its momentum for long-
term positive development. As shown by the macroeconomic
data released by the National Bureau of Statistics of China,
the total retail sales of consumer goods were experiencing an
accumulated positive growth from January to August 2022; the
commercial activity indices of various service sectors including
telecommunication, TV broadcasting and satellite transmission
services were at a higher level, suggesting that the potentials in
service and consumption have been effectively released.

With a closer interdependence between the Internet and the
daily life, people are spending more and more time on online
consumption and enjoyment of entertainment content. According to
the data released by the China Internet Network Information Center,
the weekly hours spent online in China significantly increased from
8.5 hours in December 2001 to 29.5 hours in June 2022, and the size
of online video users expanded from 0.161 billion in December 2007
to 0.995 billion in June 2022. The audience’s leisure time can be
effectively taken up by watching a multiplicity of immersive online
entertainment content that caters for individual preferences, which
will increase reliance in use and be favorable to the digitalization
and professionalization of the film, TV and entertainment industry in
the long run. Meanwhile, the development of big data technology
has given rise to algorithm-based personalized recommendation
and comprehensive market insights, enabling the film, TV and
entertainment industry to refocus on quality content production,
thus bringing in a uniquely vicarious entertainment experience to
the audience. According to PwC’s Global Entertainment & Media
Outlook report, the total revenue of China’s entertainment and
media industry is projected to reach approximately US$526.9 billion
by 2026, with the compound annual growth rate at 5.7% from 2022
to 2026, which is higher than the global rate of 4.6%, indicating
ample space for diverse development in the cultural, entertainment
and consumption market.
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To keep up with current trends and entertainment preferences
of young people, Transmit Entertainment will continue to focus
on creative production and branding of series and variety shows.
We will seize the development opportunities brought about by
the upgrade of entertainment content consumption by carefully
selecting themes for film and TV, and rolling out more high-quality
works together with our scriptwriters, directors and artistes.

To conclude, on behalf of the Board, | would like to take this
opportunity to express my most sincere gratitude to all our
shareholders, partners and dedicated senior management team
for their long-term care and support and to all the staff for their
unremitting efforts.

Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

27 September 2022
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in (i) film, TV series and variety
show production, distribution and licensing of film rights; (ii) film
exhibition; and (iii) pan entertainment. The Group mainly produces
Chinese films, variety shows and TV series in both Mainland China
and Hong Kong as its main markets. It also currently operates one
Hong Kong based cinema. During the year ended 30 June 2022,
the Group further advanced the “Stay-at-Home Economy” and its
brand diversification development strategy. The Group's proportion
of revenue from Mainland China increased by 8.5 percentage points
year-on-year to approximately 92.2% from approximately 83.7% last
year. Mainland China continues to be the major source of income
and business growth of the Group.

Following the development dynamics of the industry and the
entertainment tastes of young viewers, the Group has continued
to focus on the development and production of outstanding variety
contents, while actively exploring innovative business models such
as web series, online movies and short videos. For the year ended
30 June 2022, the film, TV series and variety show production
and distribution business remained as the core business of the
Group with recorded revenue of approximately HK$507.8 million,
representing a substantial increase of approximately 147.3% as
compared to last year. The increase was mainly attributable to
the smooth broadcasting of the inspiring urban workplace TV
series “The Ideal City”, the megahit detective reality show “The
Detectives’ Adventures” and the love-story variety show “I| Love
You, Me Too" Season 3 in August 2021, May 2021 and April 2022
respectively.
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“The Ideal City” was smoothly broadcasted on the video website
iQlYl and various first-tier TV stations of the country, ranking first
in CSM 63 TV series viewership rankings and being awarded over
10 industry honours and awards, including being shortlisted for
the 2018-2022 List of Key TV Series Planning and Theme of the
National Radio and Television Administration and being rated “2021
Outstanding Show Broadcasting Overseas” by the National Radio
and Television Administration. “The Detectives’ Adventures”
innovatively integrated the interpretation of film and TV classics
into script killing, establishing a variety show model with detective
theme which targets audiences across all age groups; it was also
awarded multiple industry awards, including the internet variety
show of the year at 2021 Cloud+ Rankings and the innovative variety
show of the year award at The Sixth New EntertainmenteNew
Consumption Annual Summit. Moreover, the scriptwriter and
director teams of the Group had been engaged in the development
and production of various trending TV series during the year,
including “Love Destiny”, “"Hit Me Once Again, Dad”, “Meal
Gathering”, “Lady Constable”, “The Oriental Hades"”, “Never Give
Up"”, “Pagoda” and “Xu Chunchun’s Camellia Luck”.

Considering that the novel coronavirus disease (“COVID-19")
pandemic has brought about a challenging business environment for
the film exhibition business, the Group had disposed of its partial
equity interests in the film exhibition business aiming to reallocate
financial resources to other businesses with higher development
potential, with the purpose of generating better returns for the
Shareholders. The disposal transaction was completed on 26 May
2021. Thereafter, in accordance with a management agreement and
a supplemental agreement entered into among the Group, Cinema
City (WL) Limited and Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited, the Group
earned fees for the operation of Langham Place Cinema in Hong
Kong during the term of the agreement. The management believes
that the above-mentioned strategic measures will have a positive
impact on the Group's future results and financial performance.
For further details of the disposal and the management agreement,
please refer to the announcements of the Group dated 18 January
2021 and 26 May 2021, respectively.

Due to the effect of the above disposal transaction, the Group's
film exhibition revenue decreased by approximately 13.0% to
approximately HK$54.7 million for the year as compared to last year,
accounting for approximately 7.8% of the Group's total revenue.
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group continued to
improve its industry chain and broaden its revenue base and the
influence of the Group’s artistes and celebrities in market segments
continued to grow. The Group’s artistes participated in the starring
and endorsement activities of various TV series and films. Among
which, Yang Chaoyue starred in the costume TV dramas “Chong
Zi" and “Momentary Impulsiveness and Perpetual Eudaimonia”;
whereas Li Yitong starred in various TV series including “Warm on a
Cold Night”, “Mission of the Special Agent” and “Punch Out”.

The Group's pan entertainment and other businesses recorded
a total revenue of approximately HK$141.4 million for the year,
representing a decrease of approximately 25.1% as compared to
approximately HK$188.8 million last year. This business segment
recorded a profit of approximately HK$28.7 million for the year
ended 30 June 2022 (year ended 30 June 2021: a profit of
approximately HK$41.0 million).

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue of the Group for the year amounted to approximately
HK$704.0 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$247.0 million or 54.0% as compared to last year, mainly
contributed by the revenue of approximately HK$507.8 million
and HK$141.4 million from the film and TV series production
and distribution segment, and the pan entertainment and other
businesses segment respectively.
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For the film and TV series production and distribution segment,
the Group’s recorded revenue for the year ended 30 June 2022
was mainly contributed by the production of TV series and variety
shows. The inspiring urban workplace TV series “The Ideal City",
the megahit detective reality show “The Detectives’ Adventures”
and the love-story variety show "I Love You, Me Too" Season 3
were smoothly broadcasted in August 2021, May 2021 and April
2022 respectively, the revenue from which was recognised this
year, driving a significant year-on-year increase in revenue for this
segment. For the film exhibition segment, the Group completed the
disposal of its partial equity interests in the film exhibition business
on 26 May 2021, and entered into a management agreement
and a supplemental agreement for the operation of the Langham
Cinema in Hong Kong, whereby a year-on-year decrease in revenue
of this segment was recorded. For the pan entertainment and
other businesses segment, the Group recorded a total revenue of
approximately HK$141.4 million from artiste management services
and sale of merchandise under self-owned retail brands during the
year ended 30 June 2022, representing a decrease of approximately
25.1% as compared to last year.

Gross profit of the Group was approximately HK$126.1 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$5.0 million or
approximately 3.8% as compared to last year. Gross profit margin
for the year was approximately 17.9%, representing a decrease
of approximately 10.8 percentage points as compared to last year.
The smooth broadcasting of the inspiring urban workplace TV
series “The Ideal City”, the megahit detective reality show “The
Detectives’ Adventures” and the love-story variety show “I Love
You, Me Too” Season 3 in August 2021, May 2021 and April 2022
respectively generated revenue which was recognised this year,
driving a year-on-year significant increase in revenue for the film
and TV series production and distribution segment, whereby the
proportion of the revenue of this segment to the Group’'s total
revenue increased to 72.1% for the year. Also, the Group completed
the disposal of its partial equity interests in the film exhibition
business on 26 May 2021, whereby the proportion of the revenue of
the film exhibition segment to the Group’s total revenue decreased
to approximately 7.7% for the year. Since the gross profit margin of
this segment is higher than that of the film and TV series production
and distribution segment, the Group’s overall gross profit margin
decreased.
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, other gains and losses
and other income amounted to approximately HK$65.8 million,
representing a decrease of approximately HK$120.0 million or
approximately 64.5% as compared to last year, mainly due to
the gain on the disposal of its partial equity interests in the film
exhibition business during the year ended 30 June 2021, the rent
concession from landlords and the government grant from the Hong
Kong Government received by our cinemas last year, since the
relevant revenue was substantially decreased for the year.

Selling and distribution expenses decreased by approximately
HK$75.2 million or 47.1% from approximately HK$159.5 million
last year to approximately HK$84.2 million for the year, which was
mainly due to the fact that the Group completed the disposal of its
partial equity interests in the film exhibition business on 26 May
2021, thereby reducing the sales and distribution expenses of the
film exhibition business.

Administrative expenses slightly increased by approximately HK$0.2
million or approximately 0.2% from approximately HK$82.4 million
last year to approximately HK$82.6 million for the year, benefiting
from the effective internal control measures on costs.

This year, the Group’'s loss and total comprehensive expense
attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$92.2 million (year ended 30 June 2021: loss
of approximately HK$7.6 million) and approximately HK$102.9
million (year ended 30 June 2021: total comprehensive income of
approximately HK$16.5 million) respectively.

The increase in loss for the year was mainly attributable to (i)
delay in the productions of various TV series and variety shows of
the Group due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and the
restrictive quarantine and travel measures, and the uncertainty in
future income under a challenging market environment, which led to
an impairment on goodwill of approximately HK$43.7 million in the
film and TV series production and distribution segment for the year;
(i) the reduction in starring and commercial activities due to the
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, causing an increased uncertainty
in future income from artiste management services, which led to
an impairment on goodwill of approximately HK$23.9 million in the
pan entertainment and the other segment for the year; and (iii) the
decrease in income and profit for the year of Wenlan, a non-wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, as compared to last year due
to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, causing the fair value of
purchased call option to decrease by approximately HK$16.8 million.
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IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL
(THE “IMPAIRMENT")

As disclosed in note 15 to the consolidated financial statements,
goodwill has been allocated to the cash-generating-units (“CGUs")
of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan. The carrying amounts of goodwill
(before impairment loss) allocated to the CGUs of the Khorgas
Group and Wenlan amounted to approximately HK$419.0 million and
HK$42.4 million, respectively as at 30 June 2022.

The Impairment loss of goodwill of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan
amounting to approximately HK$43.7 million and HK$23.9 million,
respectively, was made for the year (30 June 2021: HK$Nil and
HKS$NIl, respectively), which was determined after considering the
difference between the recoverable amount based on value in use
calculations and the carrying value as at 30 June 2022.

The Khorgas Group was engaged in film and TV series production,
distribution and licensing business whereas Wenlan was engaged
in artiste management business. The management assessed the
revenue, gross profit margin and net profit margin to be generated
therefrom after taking into account the factors explained in the
section headed “Circumstances leading to the Impairment” below.

Circumstances leading to the Impairment

For the year ended 30 June 2022, the management of the Company
assessed the carrying value and recoverable amount of the CGUs
and goodwill allocated to the CGUs after taking into account the
following factors:

(@) the ongoing implementation of restrictive COVID-19 measures
in the PRC, including city-wide lockdowns in Shanghai and
certain other cities, compulsory COVID-19 testing, social
distancing and isolation rules, work-from-home arrangement,
mandatory closures of movie theatres and certain non-
essential venues and so on in relation to the COVID-19
outbreaks since the first quarter of 2020;

(b)  the adverse impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the film and TV
industry and the consumption atmosphere in the PRC leading
to the slowdowns and postponements in shooting of movies
and TV series, which had significant adverse impact on the
progress and original schedules of the film and TV productions
as well as the artistes’ work schedules;
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the adverse impact of COVID-19 pandemic on the financial
performance of the peers in the media and entertainment
industry and certain online streaming platforms, and further
cost control measures are expected to be taken by industry
participants;

the implementation of certain government restrictive rules and
regulations such as imposing a cap on the salaries of actors
and actresses, a cap on the maximum number of episodes of
each TV drama, etc.;

the review and comparison of the budgets of the Khorgas
Group and Wenlan prepared for the year and the actual
revenue and profit generated from the Khorgas Group and
Wenlan during the year, from which a shortfall from the
projected revenue and operating profit was found, preliminarily
due to the impact of COVID-19 pandemic which had resulted
in unexpectable interruptions in films and TV productions and
artistes’ work schedules as stated above; and

the need to adopt a reasonable approach in evaluating the
cashflow to be generated from the Khorgas Group and Wenlan
by the adoption of a pre-tax discount rate of 25.0% and 24.9%
respectively (30 June 2021: 26.0% and 27.5% respectively)
with reference to the use of weighted average costs of capital
when the recoverable amount was determined based on value
in use calculations.

The above factors were identified close to the end of the years
ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021 and were assessed and
considered during the course of the preparation of the annual
financial information of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan for the
years ended 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2021.
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The method, basis and key assumptions used in

determining the amount of the Impairment and the
recoverable amount.

The Impairment relied on the assessment based on the discount
cash flow method ("DCF"). DCF is adopted because:

the entire carrying amount of the CGUs was tested for
impairment in accordance with the HKAS 36 issued by the
HKICPA by comparing its recoverable amount with its carrying
amount; and

the Group adopted the DCF method under the income-based
approach in arriving at the value in use. According to the HKAS
36, measuring value in use of an entity should consider an
estimate of the future cash flows the entity expects to derive
from the CGUs. Therefore, the Company adopted the DCF.

The basis and key assumptions used in the assessment are as
follows:

(a)

the Group recognised the impairment loss on goodwill due
to the deteriorating economic environment brought by the
COVID-19 pandemic in the film and TV series productions,
licensing and distribution business as well as artiste
management sector;

the economic downturn and the negative impact of COVID-19
pandemic will be a mid-to-long term issue and the financial
performance of online streaming platforms and occupancy
rate of the cinemas will not expectably rebound in a short
period taking into account the challenging global and the PRC
economic environment and declining financial performance of
the industry peers as well as the uncertainties brought by the
COVID-19 pandemic;

the interest rate of the banking facilities obtained by the Group
for the operation of the Khorgas Group and Wenlan will not
decrease substantially in the foreseeable period and hence
affecting the discount rate used when adopting the DCF
approach; and
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for the impairment testing, the recoverable amount was
determined based on value in use calculations which was
performed by the management. The cash flow projection of
the Khorgas Group was based on financial budgets approved
by the management of the Company covering a five-year
period and a pre-tax discount rate of 25.0% (30 June 2021:
26.0%). The Group’s management estimated that the Khorgas
Group's revenue from films and TV series would be recognised
and received in the later years of forecast periods after taking
into consideration the factors stated in “Circumstances
leading to the Impairment” as compared to the previous years'
financial budgets. The impairment was primarily due to the
postponement in shootings, post productions and release
dates of certain films and TV dramas to the later years of
the forecast periods, although these films and TV dramas
were originally planned to complete in the earlier years of
the forecast periods. The key assumption includes the future
expected cash flows based on management’s view of future
business prospects and historical performance of the Khorgas
Group.

In addition, the cash flow projection of Wenlan was based
on financial budgets approved by the management of
the Company covering a five-year period and a pre-tax
discount rate of 24.9% (30 June 2021: 27.5%). The Group’s
management estimated that Wenlan's revenue from artiste
management business would drop during the forecast
periods after taking into consideration the factors stated in
“Circumstances leading to the Impairment” as compared to
the previous years' financial budgets. Management prudently
predicted that there would be no significant revenue growth
in the forecast period. The key assumption includes the future
expected cash flows based on management’s view of future
business prospects and historical performance of Wenlan.

Taking into account the above factors and the reasonable approach
of adopting the relevant accounting standard and the more
suitable discount rate when making cash flow projections, the
Board considers that the Impairment is fair and reasonable. Under
the current challenging environment of film and TV productions,
distribution and licensing business and artiste management
business brought by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group's
management will closely monitor the market situations and adjust
business strategy timely.
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LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s bank balances and cash amounted
to approximately HK$103.5 million (30 June 2021: approximately
HK$103.8 million), which are denominated mainly in HK$, United
States Dollar (“US$"”) and Renminbi (“RMB").

As at 30 June 2022, the Group's total debts, including bank and
other borrowings, bonds payable, loans from related companies
and a controlling shareholder amounted to approximately HK$109.1
million, approximately HK$14.3 million, approximately HK$40.7
million and HKS$Nil, respectively (30 June 2021: approximately
HK$96.6 million, approximately HK$27.6 million, approximately
HK$189.0 million and approximately HK$38.6 million, respectively).
As at 30 June 2022, the gearing ratio, representing the ratio of total
debts to total assets, was approximately 13.0% (30 June 2021:
approximately 21.6%).

On 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019 and 24 February 2020, the
Group and Royston Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”) entered
into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Placing Agent
conditionally agreed to procure, on a best efforts basis, placees to
subscribe in cash for the bonds in an aggregate principal amount
of up to HK$150,000,000 during the placing period. Details of the
placing of bonds are set out in the announcements of the Company
dated 16 May 2019, 16 September 2019, 24 February 2020 and 21
August 2020 respectively. As at 30 June 2022, the Group’s bonds
payable amounted to approximately HK$14.3 million (30 June 2021:
approximately HK$27.6 million).

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had total non-current assets of
approximately HK$601.5 million (30 June 2021: approximately
HK$793.2 million), net current assets of approximately HK$62.3
million (30 June 2021: net current liabilities of approximately
HK$31.3 million) and net assets of approximately HK$399.0 million
(30 June 2021: approximately HK$249.8 million). The current ratio
of the Group, representing the ratio of current assets to current
liabilities, was approximately 1.10 as at 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021:
approximately 0.96).

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group mainly funded its
liquidity by bank and other borrowings, bonds, loans from related
companies and the controlling shareholder, and resources generated
internally. The Group's financial resources are sufficient to support
its business and operations. The Group would also consider other
financing activities when appropriate business opportunities arise
under favourable market conditions.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group did not hold
any significant investment projects, and there was no material
acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associates.

HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 30 June 2022, the Group employed a total of 140 permanent
employees (30 June 2021: 220) in Mainland China and Hong Kong.
During the year ended 30 June 2022, the total salaries and wages,
including the Directors’ remuneration and part-time workers’
salary, amounted to approximately HK$37.5 million (30 June 2021:
approximately HK$58.4 million).

The Group offers remuneration packages for employees mainly
based on their performances and experiences, and with reference
to prevailing industry practices. In addition to enrolling the new
employees into the mandatory provident fund scheme in Hong Kong
and the State-managed pension scheme in the PRC and making
contributions for them on a periodic basis, the Group also provides
medical coverage, internal and external training programs and
grants share options and discretionary bonuses to employees based
on employees’ individual performances and the Group's overall
performance. The Group reviews the remuneration policies and
packages on a regular basis.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

As at 30 June 2022, the Group had bank deposits amounting to
approximately HK$0.7 million (30 June 2021: approximately HK$0.7
million) that were pledged to banks for the bank guarantee provided
to a subsidiary of the Group regarding its due payment under a
cinema equipment rental agreement. The Group’s bank borrowings
of RMB44,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$51,480,000)
were secured by pledged bank deposits of HK$61,000,000 and
guaranteed by an insurance company in the PRC, and the bank
borrowings of RMB19,990,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,388,000) were secured by pledged bank deposits of
RMB5,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$5,850,000), and
loan advances of RMB21,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$24,600,000) from a third party company were secured by
trade receivable amounting to RMB16,731,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$19,575,000).
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TREASURY POLICY

The Group's business operations were conducted mainly in
Mainland China and Hong Kong with transactions principally
denominated in HK$, US$ and RMB. The monetary assets and
liabilities are denominated mainly in HK$, US$ and RMB. Apart
from HKS$, which is pegged to US$, any significant exchange rate
fluctuations of HK$ against RMB may have a financial impact on
the Group. As the foreign exchange risks arising from sales and
purchases can be eliminated against each other, and the fluctuations
of RMB during the year had no significant impact on the costs and
operations of the Group for the year, the Directors do not foresee
significant risk in exchange rate fluctuation. Currently, the Group
has not entered into any financial instrument for hedging purposes.
However, the Group will closely monitor its overall foreign exchange
exposures and interest rate exposures, and consider hedging
against the exposures should the need arise.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

As at 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitments.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 30 June 2021 and 2022, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.
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OUTLOOK

Looking forward, the Group will continue to focus on the
development of film and television production business as well as
artiste and celebrity agency business in Mainland China, and will
strive to establish a pan-entertainment business ecosphere and
integrate upstream and downstream industry chains by proactively
expanding various realization channels from downstream industry
chains in a bid to attain its strategic plan of firmly combining its
strengths and resources. Taking advantages of the rich collaboration
resources of online platforms for cultivating new artistes and
celebrities, the Group will also proactively explore and develop
its self-owned retail brand targeting young consumers to further
diversify the revenue base by continuously identifying business
opportunities in relation to the “Stay-at-Home Economy” on
four aspects including online streaming, short videos, celebrity
cultivation and traffic monetization.

A number of the projects of the Group are currently under
preparation, including the urban mystery-solving TV series “Frozen
Surface” and the love-story variety show “Adventure in Winter”.
The Group also plans to produce a spin-off programme of “I Love
You, Me Too" given their satisfactory viewership and popular online
reception, with a view to creating self-owned brands in variety
shows with richly diversified contents. In addition, the Group will
proceed to the development and production of a series of highly
popular copyrights, such as “Romance in the City”, “Queen of the
Sea"” and “Locard’s Theory".

As an enterprise with diversified development having a focus on
film, television and variety show content creation and production
with the spirit of business value “Enabling”, the Group will
consolidate resources in scriptwriting, directing and celebrity to
cultivate artistes, incubate, explore and create popular film and
television copyrights by continuously offering quality content in
order to develop its self-owned full industry chain model and build
up a unique soft power, thereby continuously enhancing profitability,
sharpening competitive edges in the industry and generating
favorable long term returns for the Shareholders.
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Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (“Mr. Zhang”), aged 41, was appointed
as an executive Director and the chairman of the Board on 13
December 2017. Mr. Zhang is responsible for the overall corporate
and business development and strategic direction of the Group, and
provides leadership for the Board of Directors. He is an entrepreneur
in various industries, including real estate and energy etc. Mr.
Zhang has more than 11 years of experience in the energy sector.
He served as an executive director from March 2012 to May 2022
and remains as a controlling shareholder of Kinetic Development
Group Limited (formerly known as Kinetic Mines and Energy
Limited) (stock code: 1277), a company listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)
which principally engages in coal production and coal trading. Mr.
Zhang is also a controlling shareholder, an executive director and
the chairman of the board of Brainhole Technology Limited (formerly
known as Top Dynamic International Holdings Limited) (stock code:
2203), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
Mr. Zhang has more than 13 years of experience in the real estate
sector. He is a director of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong on 15 July 2008 with limited
liability which, through its subsidiaries, principally engaged in real
estate business.
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Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (“Ms. Zhao"), aged 37, joined the Company
as the President of the Company on 17 September 2018 and was
appointed as an executive Director of the Company on 26 November
2018. She holds a Master of Filmography from the Communication
University of China* (R BI{E#KE). Ms. Zhao has over 12 years
of experience in mass communications. She is a dynamic leader
with broad exposure and has spearheaded growth initiatives in
her different roles in various companies in mass communication.
Ms. Zhao is currently the general manager of Khorgas Houhai
Culture Media Company Limited (“Houhai Culture”) (ER RH E
8 AL EE A BR 2 A]), the manager and an executive director of
Beijing Juhai Culture Media Company Limited* (1t REB /& (LB
BRA7R]), an executive director of Huzhou Houhai Culture Media
Company Limited* (#ME & LB HAER A F]), the manager and
an executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing Entertainment
Limited* (R 2EREREZR LB R 2 @) (since March 2019), an
executive director of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li Culture Media Limited*
(REEENH XL EBE AR AT (since June 2019), a director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (RK;ZEIERKX
L2 AR A al) (since June 2019), and an executive director of
Tianjin Chuan Di Shuo Chi Advertising Limited* (KRR 5 E &
BBRAF]) (since August 2019), all being subsidiaries of the Group.
Prior to this, she was the deputy director of Dongyang Sansang
Media Co., Ltd.* (SR5=mEHRMNBRAF]) until 2013. She was
also the distribution director and vice-president of Beijing Xishiji
Film and Television Culture Development Co., Ltd.* (1t =% t 42
XL EEEAMR A A in 2014 and the general manager and vice-
president of the department of filmography and television of Nanjing
Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (MR AEITHI L E
BBR/AF]) from 2014 to 2016. She gained abundant experience by
participating in many television entertainment shows and television
series before, including “Three Kingdoms” ({=FE4)), “Long Trip to
Beautiful Rivers and Mountains” ({F5E)LIL)), “The Lost Tomb”
((BEZER)), "Go Fighting” ((IEFEHEEL)) and “Give Me Five” (&
B FED).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick (“Mr. Lee”), aged 47, was appointed
as an executive Director on 1 December 2017. Mr. Lee has over 19
years of experience in the financial services industry. He obtained
a Bachelor of Business degree from the La Trobe University,
Melbourne Victoria Australia in 1997. During the period from 1997
to 2006, he was employed by HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Ltd
with his last position as a vice president. He was also a type 4
(advising on securities), type 5 (advising on futures contracts), type
6 (advising on corporate finance) and type 9 (asset management)
licensed representative of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2004, and a
type 1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts) and
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) licensed representative
of the HSBC group from 2003 to 2006. He then worked as the
personal assistant of Mr. Zhang, an existing executive Director and
the chairman of the Board and the controlling shareholder of the
Company, from 2006 to 2011. Since 2011, he has been employed as
a financial analyst by Kinetic (Asia) Limited which is a wholly owned
subsidiary of Kinetic Development Group Limited (formerly known
as Kinetic Mines and Energy Limited) (stock code: 1277), a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, of which Mr. Zhang
is a controlling shareholder. Since 2016, he has also been a director
of Seedland Construction Holdings Limited, a company indirectly
wholly owned by Mr. Zhang.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Bo (“Mr. Wang"”), aged 46, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Wang has over 24 years of experience in financing and insurance
industry. He received from the Sun Yat-Sen University in China
his Bachelor of International Accounting degree minoring in
international finance in June 1998. He was the general manager
of Guangdong Baolihua New Energy Stock Co., Ltd. (stock code:
000690), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, from
August 2015 to March 2018. From July 1998 to June 2015, he was
employed by Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation
Limited with his last position as the deputy general manager in the
financial planning department. During the course of employment
with Guangdong Finance Investment (Holding) Corporation Limited,
he also served as the deputy general manager of Guangdong
Finance Trust Company Limited, the director of Zhong Cheng
Vehicle Insurance Company Limited and Zhu Jiang Life Insurance
Company Limited, and the supervisor in Guangdong Guanhao
High-tech Co., Ltd. (stock code: 600433), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Xiang Feng (“Mr. Xiang”), aged 45, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017. Mr.
Xiang has over 17 years of experience in the movie industry. He
received his Bachelor of Economics degree from the University of
International Business and Economics in China in July 1998 and
his Master of Arts in Media Production degree from the Griffith
University in Australia in April 2005. He has been a general manager
of Funtasy Pictures Co., Ltd. since February 2015. He has also
been a supervisor of Fengzhimeng Visual Media Culture (Beijing)
Company Limited from October 2013 to March 2019. Previously
he has served as the chief operating officer of the Entgroup from
March 2009 to September 2010. Mr. Xiang was also the executive
producer of the movie “No Liar, No Cry”, the art director interpreter
of the movie “the Mummy, Tomb of the Dragon Emperor”, the
script planner of the movie “Cities in Love”, the bilingual production
coordinator of the movie “Up in the Wind"”, and the line producer of
the movie “Last Flight”.

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson (“Mr. Chang”), aged 42, was appointed
as an independent non-executive Director on 13 December 2017.
Mr. Chang has over 19 years of experience in accounting, finance
and business advisory work. He received his Bachelor of Commerce
degree from the University of British Columbia in May 2002.
He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since September 2005 and the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since January 2005. Mr. Chang has
been an independent non-executive director of Yik Wo International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8659), a company listed on the GEM
of the Stock Exchange since June 2022. Mr. Chang has been an
independent non-executive director of DL Holdings Group Limited
(previously known as Season Pacific Holdings Ltd) (stock code:
1709), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
since May 2018. From September 2019 to May 2020, Mr. Chang
was the independent non-executive director of Centenary United
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1959), a company listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange since 18 October 2019. He had been
the chief financial officer, company secretary and an authorised
representative under the Listing Rules and under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws in Hong Kong) of
China Tangshang Holdings Limited (previously known as Culture
Landmark Investment Limited) (stock code: 674), a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, from April 2017 to August
2019. He was also a non-executive director of Sino Vision Worldwide
Holdings Limited (previously known as DX.com Holdings Limited)
(stock code: 8086), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange, from May 2017 to July 2018.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Zhang Tingting (“Ms. Zhang”), aged 44, joined Houhai Culture
on 1 July 2018. Ms. Zhang is currently the deputy general manager
of Houhai Culture and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Si Li
Culture Media Limited* (KZEEEMN I LEEBRAE]), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group. She obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
journalism from Communication University of China and did further
study at Peking University of China and the University of Cambridge
of the United Kingdom. Ms. Zhang has over 20 years of experience
in the media and film and television industry, during which she
was responsible for the production and direction as well as the
arrangement and operation of channels of Anhui TV, established the
branding department and was in charge of the broadcasting channel
operation and the national promotion of various projects, such as
Mao Ren Chao Ji Mei Li Host Show (“S AR I EHHF") (the
promotion of artistes like Liu Yan, Xie Nan and Shi Yang), Domestic
TV Series Ceremony and the New Four Great Classical Novels.

Mr. Ma Jin (“Mr. Ma”), aged 39, joined Houhai Culture on 1
December 2017. Mr. Ma is currently the deputy general manager of
Houhai Culture, an executive Director of Tianjin Miu Si Culture Media
Limited* (KZEZHTLEH B A 7)), a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Group and the general manager of Chuan Di Living Technology
(Tianjin) Limited* (EiE4£ERHL(KE)HRR A F)). He graduated from
Zhejiang University of Technology with a Bachelor degree in Law
and obtained a professional certificate in production and direction
from the academy of visual arts of the Shanghai Fudan University.
Mr. Ma has 10 years of experience in variety shows and the film and
television industry. From 2012 to 2015, he has been the assistant
of general manager of Blue Star Company under the Zhejiang Radio
and TV Group as well as being responsible for and participating in
the production, planning and promotion of variety show “Running
Man” ({(ZEHMEZZE)) as well as movies like “Running Man" ({1
E)), “Monster Hunt” ((#£#K72)). From 2015 to November 2016, he
was the general manager of TV entertainment show department of
the Beijing Jingxi Culture & Tourism Co., Ltd (stock code: 000802.
SZ) who was responsible for the content production and artiste
arrangement of Dragon TV's variety shows “Go Fighting” ({1& R
BKEL)) and “Girls Fighting” ({IEA %)), He was the executive
filmmaker of Zhejiang TV's “Give Me Five” (= 8E4 @ )) Season |
and Il as well as the executive filmmaker of iQlY| love programme “|
Love You, Me Too” ({Z &R + Fth=Z)).

*  For identification only
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Mr. Wang Jun, aged 41, joined Houhai Culture on 1 April 2017.
Mr. Wang Jun is currently the deputy general manager of Houhai
Culture, the vice-president of Guangzhou Daide Management
Consultancy Company Limited (“Guangzhou Daide"”), a subsidiary
of the Group, the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Zhong Xing
Entertainment Limited* (REEREREIRLBFR A F]), the general
manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Wei Lai Culture Media Limited* (XZ{&
EARESLEE AR AR, the general manager of Chuan Di Family
(Shanghai) Technology Limited* ({EiEXRE(_ L&) BHEERAF]) and
the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Ai Yu Culture Limited* (X
FEEETIRE AR AF]). He graduated from the Business School
of the University of Shanghai for Science and Technology with a
bachelor’'s degree in management. Mr. Wang Jun has 18 years
of experience in the film and television industry and was the vice
president of Cathay Media (Beijing) Co., Ltd. from 2014 to 2016,
of which he was responsible for the production and marketing of
TV dramas, namely “Gods of Honour” ({¥f##)) and “The Condor
Heroes” ({f#E&{2)). From 2013 to 2014, he was the marketing
director of B A & 18 & 12 B IR 2 7] and was responsible for the
production and marketing of the TV drama namely “Bu Bu Jing
Qing” ((FF 1)) as well as the promotion of artistes like Hu Ge,
Liu Shishi and Gulinazha. From 2004 to 2012, he was the promotion
director of L RE(FZEFAREM AR A & who was responsible for TV
dramas, namely “the Dream of the Red Chamber” ((AT#£)), “Ma
La Po Xi" (ERE1E)) and movies like “Gongfu Xia" (1K) and
“Door” ({F9)) as well as the promotion of artistes ranging from Chen
Kun, Yang Mi, Yang Yang and Li Qin.

*  For identification only
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Mr. He Xian (“Mr. He"), aged 36, joined Houhai Culture on 26
October 2016. Mr. He is currently the producer of Houhai Culture
and the general manager of Tianjin Chuan Di Kua Ke Culture
Media Limited* (RKZEEFIES = X(LEEBR 2 F]), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. He graduated from the Communication
University of China with a Master's degree in filming. Mr. He
has 11 years of experience in the film and television industry, of
which he was in charge of film and television program planning
and distribution in Dongyang Sansang Media Co., Ltd.* (%=
X 1t {8 1% A 7)) and was responsible for the post-production and
overseas distribution of the movie version of “New Romance of
the Three Kingdoms” ({(Z=FE)) from 2011 to 2014. He was the
producer of Nanjing Avenue Hengzhi Culture Media Co., Ltd.* (7
RABITHXLERARR AR from 2014 to 2016, during which he
was the executive producer of “Singing All Along” KFEIILZ &
#I7T)), the executive producer of TV drama “Naughty Grandfather
and Grandson” (AR EET)), the executive producer of web drama
“The Lost Tomb" ((AEZE:Z)), the joint producer of movie “Bad
Guys Always Die” ({(ZEZE B )) and the executive producer of
“Go Fighting — Royal Treasure” ((iRR BB 2 EXEH )). He is
currently responsible for web dramas namely “Hikaru no Go” ({1
Z8)), “Persuader” ({5277 2 #)REN)) and “Love Destiny” (BH
RED).

Ms. Lau Yee Wa (“Ms. Lau”) was appointed as the company
secretary of the Company and the authorized representative under
Rule 3.05 of the Listing Rules on 4 April 2018. Ms. Lau has over 20
years of experience in the corporate secretarial field and provides
professional corporate services to Hong Kong listed companies as
well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Lau is
a Chartered Secretary and an Associate of both The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and The Institute of Chartered
Secretaries and Administrators in the United Kingdom. She holds
a Bachelor's degree in Business Administrative Management from
University of South Australia. Ms. Lau is a senior manager of the
corporate services division of Tricor Services Limited.

*  For identification only

Az k£ ([f%E]) 3657 © B20169F10
A26BMAREXX - BEFEEG Lz E
FANREAEBEZ2EWBRARKRKEZEES
BNACEEER AR ZBEE - P HE
BAREBEEBETHEEETENMN - AEERNE
BRITERBINELR - B20115E20145F
REB =L EEQA RS RERE L%
7 BEEFRCGIZR) & BEERGI
BITTE - HE2014F 22016 F RE R AE
TAX EEEERAGEEREA A - BEE
BREACEBIWLWZERIT) CER - ERE
CAREZR) CHITEA A - BRKEESER)
ZHTRA A BR(EENANR) ZBA T
FA UREZGERKE 2 ERER) 2B
2 HENBEMABCHSE) (RE2HF2®
REDDUARCEBRE)SHBMNIE -

BmELL (8L ])N2018F4 4R %
RERARAZ ARIME R TR AIZE3.05
FRIET 2 HBRK - BIRERABWEREY
BEBE20FKRY BER LM RFNANRE
CERMEARREEERRRE o 3
LLREFFWE  URBBRRDRELRE

REFAMERITRAELAGHNEE - WiF
EERASTHERSLTEMN - BILL /T
EEXABER ARG ERLRE -

* EHES

BIRIREEAERAR] 2021/22 FR



The Directors are pleased to present their report and the audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 30
June 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities and other particulars of the Company’s
subsidiaries are set out in Note 44 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business for the year ended 30 June
2022, a discussion on the Group's future business development
and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that the
Group may be facing are set out in the Chairman’s Statement on
pages 4 to 5 and the Management Discussion and Analysis on
pages 6 to 18 of this annual report. The capital risk management and
financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are
set out in Notes 38 and 39 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively. An analysis of the Group's performance during the
year using financial key performance indicators is set out in the
Financial Summary on pages 247 to 248 of this annual report. These
discussions form part of this report.

The Group respects the environment and is committed to the
sustainable development of the environment and the society. For
details of the Group's environmental policies and performance
during the year, please refer to the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report on pages 74 to 119 of this annual report.

The Group and its business operations are subject to various laws,
rules and regulations. The Company seeks to ensure adherence to
such laws, rules and regulations through various measures such as
internal controls, approval procedures, staff trainings and overseeing
the business operations at different levels of the Group. The Board
also monitors the Group's policies and practices on compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations on a regular basis.
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So far as the Directors and senior management are aware of, for
the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group has obtained the requisite
approvals, permits, consents, licences and registrations for its
business and operations.

To the best knowledge, information and belief of the Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, the Group has complied in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during
the year ended 30 June 2022.

The Group believes that its success depends on the support from
key stakeholders which comprise employees, customers and
suppliers.

The Group recognises that employees are the valuable assets of the
Group. The Group has complied with the applicable employment
laws and regulations and periodically reviews the remuneration
package of the Group's employees with reference to market
conditions and conform to the performance, qualifications and
experience of employees.

The key customers of the Group include the co-producers,
distributors, online video-streaming platforms and cinemagoers.
The Group is committed to providing good quality service to
its customers and enhancing the loyalty of the customers by
increasing the interaction with customers through social media
platforms, which provide good development to the Group’s overall
performance in the long run.

The Group has maintained solid and good relationships with its
suppliers which ensures quality supply so as to provide high quality
films and services to customers.
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RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 30 June 2022 is set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 126 to 127 of this annual report.

The Directors do not recommend payment of any final dividend for
the year ended 30 June 2022 (30 June 2021: Nil).

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of the segment information of the Group are set out in Note
6 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five financial years as extracted from the
consolidated financial statements in the annual reports 2017/18,
2018/19, 2019/20, 2020/21 and this annual report, respectively are
set out on pages 247 to 248 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

There were no significant movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the years ended 30 June 2022 and
30 June 2021.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings during the year ended 30 June
2022 are set out in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements
of the Group.

CAPITALISATION OF INTEREST

The Group has not capitalised any interest during the year ended 30
June 2022 (30 June 2021: Nil).
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the
year ended 30 June 2022 are set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of other equity-linked agreements are included in the section
headed “Share Option Scheme” in this report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 30 June 2022 are set out in Note 43
to the consolidated financial statements and in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 130 of this annual report,
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 30 June 2022, the Company had no reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the Companies Act,
Chapter 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the
Cayman Islands (30 June 2021: HK$Nil).

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold
or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company during the
year ended 30 June 2022.

ISSUE OF DEBENTURES

Details of perpetual bonds during the year ended 30 June 2022 are
set out in Note 34 to the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, income received/
receivable from the top five customers in aggregate accounted
for approximately 73.5% of the Group's revenue (30 June 2021:
37.3%). During the same period, income received/receivable from
the single largest customer accounted for approximately 65.5% of
the Group's revenue (30 June 2021: 20.7%).

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the fees paid/payable to the
top five suppliers in aggregate constituted approximately 18.3%
(30 June 2021: 21.5%) of the Group’s total fees paid/payable to the
suppliers. During the same period, fees paid/payable to the largest
supplier constituted approximately 3.6% (30 June 2021: 5.8%) of
the Group's total fees paid/payable to the suppliers.

None of the Directors, their respective close associates or any
shareholder of the Company (who to the knowledge of the Directors
owns more than 5% of the share capital of the Company) had any
interest in any of the top five customers and suppliers.

EMOLUMENTS POLICY AND PENSION
SCHEMES

The emoluments of the Directors are recommended by the
Remuneration committee of the Company (the “Remuneration
Committee”) after considering factors such as the Company's
operating results, individual performance, salaries paid by
comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and
employment conditions elsewhere in the Group.

The remuneration of the employees of the Group is determined with
reference to market terms and the performance, qualifications and
experience of the individual employee.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
as an incentive to Directors and eligible employees who contribute
to the success of the Group's operations. Details of the Scheme
are set out in the following section headed “Share Option Scheme”
in this annual report. The Group has also adopted other employee
benefit schemes which include a provident fund scheme for
its employees in Hong Kong, as required under the Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance, and has participated in
employee pension schemes organised and governed by the relevant
local governments for its employees in the PRC.

Details of the emolument of the Directors and the five highest paid

individuals of the Group are set out in Note 12 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates the Scheme for the purpose of providing
incentives and rewards to eligible persons who contribute to the
success of the Group’s operations. The Scheme was approved by
the then sole shareholder of the Company on 5 October 2012. There
were no outstanding share options under the Scheme as at 30 June
2021 and 2022. No share options have been granted, exercised or
cancelled/lapsed under the Scheme during the years ended 30 June
2021 and 2022. Details of the Scheme are set out in Note 36 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the year ended 30 June 2022, other than the Scheme as
set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” of this
annual report, the Company did not enter into any other equity-linked
agreement, nor did any other equity-linked agreement exist during
the year.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 30 June 2022 and up to the date
of this report were:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick will retire by
rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting, and being
eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual general
meeting.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management of the
Group are disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 19 to 25 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr.
Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, being the executive Directors during the
year, had each entered into with the Company a service contract
for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three years
commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018 and
1 December 2017 respectively, renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric Jackson,
being all the independent non-executive Directors during the year,
had respectively renewed a letter of appointment with the Company
in 2018. Each letter of appointment is for a term of one year from the
date of the letter of appointment.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed
to enter into a service contract/letter of appointment with the
Company or any of its subsidiaries (other than contracts expiring or
determinable by the Group within one year without the payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation)).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to
the Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Company considers the
independent non-executive Directors to be independent.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Details of Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business are set
out in the section headed “Related Party Transactions/Connected
Transactions/Continuing Connected Transactions” in this annual
report and Note 42 to the consolidated financial statements.

Other than as disclosed above, there was no transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or its subsidiaries, or its holding companies or any of its fellow
subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director was materially
interested, whether directly or indirectly, subsisting during or at the
end of the year ended 30 June 2022.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Save as disclosed in Note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements, none of the Directors or the controlling shareholders of
the Company or their respective associates as defined in the Listing
Rules has any interest in any business which competes or may
compete with the business of the Group during the year ended 30
June 2022.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company
were entered into or existed during the year ended 30 June 2022.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Saved as disclosed above, there is no contract of significance
between the Company or any of its subsidiaries, and a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30
June 2022. There is no contract of significance for the provision of
services to the listed issuer or any of its subsidiaries by a controlling
shareholder or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended 30 June
2022.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS
ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 30 June 2022, the interests of Directors and chief executive of
the Company in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFQO"), which
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of
the SFO) and required to be entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO or which were
required, pursuant to Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules relating
to securities transactions by the Directors, to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange, were as follows:

Company/name of

Name of Director associated company  Nature of interest

BEEps EQR/HBATER ERME
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Company Interest in a controlled
RESLE /NG| corporation
REE LB R
Company Beneficial owner
VNN EREAA

Note:

These shares are registered in the name of Nice Rich Group Limited (“Nice

Rich”), the entire issued share capital of which is legally and beneficially
owned as to 100% by Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang
Liang, Johnson is deemed to be interested in all the shares registered in the

name of Nice Rich.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 30 June 2022, the interests of the persons, other than
the interests disclosed above in respect of Directors or chief
executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of
the Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and
entered in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the Company were
as follows:

Name of shareholder Nature of interest
RRER/ & EREMtE
Nice Rich™m&®@ Beneficial owner
Nice Rich™&®@ ESEAA
Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson Interest in a controlled corporation
REXE R =B
Beneficial owner
EnEAA
China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled corporation
Co., Ltd (“China Orient”) REEEEER
HERFEEEERNARAR
G v))

Dong Yin Development (Holdings) Interest in a controlled corporation
Limited (“Dong Yin")@ NI EEER
RPERER)ERAF([RR])?

Wise Leader Assets Ltd. Interest in a controlled corporation
("Wise Leader")? NI EE R

Wise Leader Assets Ltd.
([Wise Leader])®?

China Orient Asset Management Interest in a controlled corporation
(International) Holding Limited ~ M& i AE#ER
(“China Orient Int'|")?

HEIR T EEEE (B ER
BRAR (BRG]

Charming Treasure Investments  Person having a security interest
Ltd. (“Charming Treasure”)? in shares

Charming Treasure Investments R EAEEEZS 2 AL
Ltd.([ Charming Treasure ])®
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Notes:

1. Nice Rich is a British Virgin Islands company wholly owned by Mr.
Zhang Liang, Johnson. Under the SFO, Mr. Zhang is deemed to be
interested in all the shares registered in the name of Nice Rich.

2. 1,836,391,914 shares were charged by Nice Rich as chargor and
Charming Treasure as chargee as security interest on 30 May 2018.
Charming Treasure is wholly owned by China Orient Int’l. China Orient
Int’l is owned as to 50% by Dong Yin and 50% by Wise Leader. Both
Wise Leader and Dong Yin are wholly owned by China Orient. By
virtue of the SFO, each of the China Orient, Dong Yin, Wise Leader,
China Orient Int'l is deemed to be interested in all the shares held by
Charming Treasure as security interest.

Save as disclosed above, as at 30 June 2022, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than Directors or chief executive
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company which would fall under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO to be disclosed
to the Company, or which were recorded in the register required to
be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed under the sections headed “Share Option
Scheme” and “Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company and its associated corporations” in this annual report, at
no time during the year ended 30 June 2022 was the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, or any of its fellow subsidiaries, a party to
any arrangement to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or their respective close associates (as defined in the
Listing Rules) to have any right to subscribe for securities of the
Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in the
SFO or to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company’s Articles of Association provides that the Directors
and officers shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses with they shall or may incur or sustain by or
by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on
directors’ and officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal actions
against the Directors and senior management of the Group that may
be incurred in the course of performing their duties.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining the highest standard
of corporate governance practices. Information on the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company is set out in the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 53 to 73 of this annual
report.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS/CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS/CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the year
ended 30 June 2022 are set out in Note 42 to the consolidated
financial statements. Some of the transactions also constitute
“Continuing Connected Transactions” under the Listing Rules, as
identified below.
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During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Group had the following
continuing connected transactions, details of which are set out
below:

1) Management Agreement

As disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 18
January 2021 and 26 May 2021, the Company entered into a
management agreement (the “Management Agreement”) and
a supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”)
with Cinema City (WL) Limited (the “Target Company”) and
Mandarin Motion Pictures Limited (the “Mandarin Motion
Pictures”) in relation to the provision of services by Mandarin
Motion Pictures to the Company upon the completion of
disposal of Target Company in respect of the management of
Cinema City (Langham Place) Limited (the “Langham Cinema”)
for the period from 26 May 2021 to 25 May 2024.

The Group is the lessee of the Langham Cinema, the lease of
which will expire in 2024.

Taking into account the unfavourable and challenging
environment brought about by COVID-19 resulting in
the temporary closure of cinemas, the Group intended
to reallocate its financial and other resources to other
businesses. Accordingly, upon completion of the disposal of
Target Company, Mandarin Motion Pictures would provide
management services to the Langham Cinema pursuant to the
Management Agreement, while the Company could earn a fee
during the term of the Supplemental Agreement.
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The annual cap and the actual transaction amount of
the transactions contemplated under the Management
Agreement (as novated and supplemented by the
Supplemental Agreement) for the year ended 30 June 2022 is
HK$91,000,000 (the year ended 30 June 2021: HK$8,900,000)
and HK$46,331,000 respectively (the year ended 30 June
2021: HK$4,934,000). The actual transaction include 1)
reimbursement of operation income, operational cost and
expense to Langham Cinema from Mandarin Motion Pictures,
amounting to HK$45,731,000 (the year ended 30 June 2021:
HK$4,884,000); 2) management fee to the Company from
Mandarin Motion Pictures, amounting to HK$600,000 (the year
ended 30 June 2021: HK$50,000).

Mr. Wong Pak Ming (“Mr. Wong"), being a director of certain
subsidiaries of the Company, and his associates hold 100%
of the issued share capital of Mandarin Motion Pictures.
Accordingly, Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected person
of the Company at the subsidiary level and the entering into of
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) constituted a continuing
connected transaction for the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules. By virtue of Rule 14A.101 of the Listing
Rules, since (i) Mandarin Motion Pictures is a connected
person at the subsidiary level, (ii) the Board had approved
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement), and (iii) the Directors
(including the independent non-executive Directors) had also
confirmed that the terms of the Management Agreement (as
novated and supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement)
are fair and reasonable, are on normal commercial terms
or better and the Management Agreement (as novated and
supplemented by the Supplemental Agreement) is in the
interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole,
the Management Agreement (as novated and supplemented
by the Supplemental Agreement) was subject to the reporting
and announcement requirements, but was exempt from
the circular, independent financial advice and shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

For further details about the Management Agreement and
the Supplemental Agreement, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 18 January 2021 and 26 May 2021,
respectively.
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The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.

All independent non-executive Directors of the Company have
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and
confirmed that the transactions have been entered into:

(@) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(b) either on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favorable to the Group than terms available to or from
independent third parties; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement governing them on
terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the listed issuer as a whole.

In accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company's
auditor was engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised)”Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued his unqualified letter containing his findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group in pages 38 to 40 of this annual report in
accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy of the
auditor’s letter has been provided by the Company to the Stock
Exchange.

*  For identification only
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

Guangzhou Daide Management Consultancy Company Limited
("Guangzhou Daide"), through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Houhai
Culture as operating company and its subsidiary (the “Khorgas
Group”), is principally engaged in TV entertainment show and TV
program production and operation (including introduction business).
Guangzhou Daide is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is owned as to 99% by Mr. TANG Jimin (“Mr.
Tang") (480 and 1% by Ms. WANG Qinyang (“Ms. Wang") (£ &
[%), being the equity owners of Guangzhou Daide nominated by the
Company (the “Original PRC Equity Owner(s)”). On 4 August 2021,
the 99% and 1% equity owned respectively by Mr. Tang and Ms.

Wang were transferred to Mr. Lin Jianfei* (“Mr. Lin"”) (Fk&l7)
and Ms. Miao Mengzhu* (“Ms. Miao") (BZ4) (the “New PRC

Equity Owners”), whereby the rights enjoyed and the obligations
undertaken by the Original PRC Equity Owners under the contractual
arrangements of the target company were altogether transferred to
the New PRC Equity Owners.

The aggregate revenues of the Khorgas Group that were attributable
to the Group through the VIE Operating Agreements (as defined
below) amounted to approximately HK$473,000,000 for the year
ended 30 June 2022. As at 30 June 2022, the net assets attributable
to the Khorgas Group were approximately HK$165,000,000.

On 27 May 2018, Guangzhou Huohua Investment Company
Limited (“Guangzhou Huohua”), Guangzhou Daide and the PRC
Equity Owners entered into the VIE acquisition agreement (the
“VIE Acquisition Agreement”), pursuant to which the parties shall
upon completion enter into the VIE operating agreements. VIE
operating agreements comprised the exclusive operation service
agreement, the exclusive option agreements, the entrustment
agreements and powers of attorney, the equity pledge agreements
and the loan agreement (collectively are referred to as the “VIE
Operating Agreements”). Under the VIE Operating Agreements,
Guangzhou Huohua will have effective control over the finance and
operation of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and will enjoy
the entire economic interests and benefits generated by Guangzhou
Daide and the Khorgas Group from completion (the “Contractual
Arrangements”), for a cash consideration of RMB450,000,000
(subject to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement).
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Houhai Culture is a limited liability company established under the
laws of the PRC and is principally engaged in TV entertainment show
and TV program production and operation (including introduction
business). Pursuant to the Catalogue of Industries for Guiding
Foreign Investment (2017 revised version) (IR EEEIEER
$%(20179&5]))) (the “Catalogue”) promulgated by the Ministry
of Commerce, the principal business of Houhai Culture, falls
within the prohibited industry for foreign investment. In light of the
abovementioned foreign ownership restriction, in order to comply
with applicable PRC laws and regulations and obtain the entire
economic benefits attributable to the Khorgas Group, Guangzhou
Huohua (a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company), Guangzhou
Daide and the PRC Equity Owners entered into the VIE Acquisition
Agreement, pursuant to which the parties agreed to enter into
the VIE Operating Agreements upon completion. Under the VIE
Operating Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua will have effective
control over the finance and operation of Guangzhou Daide and the
Khorgas Group and will enjoy the entire economic interests and
benefits generated by Guangzhou Daide and the Khorgas Group
from completion. No other approval is required to be obtained and
no other additional eligibility standards is required to be fulfilled by
the Khorgas Group under the arrangements as contemplated under
the VIE Operating Agreements.

Investment activities in the PRC by foreign investors are primarily
regulated by the Catalogue, which was promulgated and is amended
from time to time jointly by the Ministry of Commerce of the PRC
(the “"MOFCOM") and the National Development and Reform
Commission of the PRC. The Catalogue divides industries into four
categories in terms of foreign investment, including “encourage”,
“restricted” and “prohibited”, and all industries not listed under any
of these categories are deemed to be “permitted”. Pursuant to the
Catalogue, the business that the Khorgas Group currently operates
falls into the category of “prohibited”. Therefore, as Guangzhou
Huohua is a foreign-owned company, it is not allowed to hold any
equity interests of Houhai Culture under the PRC laws.

The PRC legal advisers, after taking all reasonable and possible
actions and steps to reach its legal conclusions, are of the following
legal opinion:

- the VIE Operating Agreements are narrowly tailored to achieve

the business purposes of the Company and minimise the
potential for conflict with relevant PRC laws and regulations;
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each of Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the
members of the Khorgas Group are duly established and validly
existing under the PRC laws, and has obtained or completed
all requisite approvals, permits, registrations or filings that are
material for carrying out its business operations as required by
the applicable PRC laws, regulations and rules;

each of the VIE Operating Agreements, taken individually and
collectively, constitutes legal, valid and binding obligations
of the parties thereto and will be enforceable under
applicable PRC laws and regulations except that (a) the China
International Economic and Trade Arbitration Commission
has no power to grant injunctive relief, nor will it be able to
order the winding up of Guangzhou Daide or Houhai Culture
pursuant to the current PRC laws; and (b) interim remedies
or enforcement order granted by overseas courts such as
the courts of Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands may not be
recognised or enforceable in the PRC;

the VIE Operating Agreements do not, individually or
collectively, violate the mandatory provisions of the PRC
Contract Law, the General Principles of the PRC Civil Law and
other applicable PRC laws and regulations and are not deemed
as “concealing illegal intentions with a lawful form” resulting in
the invalidity of the VIE Operating Agreements;

none of the VIE Operating Agreements violates any provisions
of the existing articles of association of each of Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and members of the Khorgas
Group; and

the execution, effectiveness and enforceability of the VIE
Operating Agreements do not require any approvals from
any PRC governmental authority, except that (1) each of the
Equity Pledge Agreements (as defined below) is subject to
registration requirements with the relevant administration
for industry and commerce; (2) the exercising of the
exclusive options by Guangzhou Huohua according to the
Exclusive Option Agreements (as defined below) shall be
subject to the then effective PRC laws and regulations and
relevant approving procedures (if applicable); and (3) if the
enforcement of the VIE Operating Agreements is subject to
the enforcement of the ruling by the arbitrator and/or overseas
courts outside PRC, the claimant shall enforce the ruling via
PRC courts with jurisdiction.
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The following sets out the principal terms of the VIE Operating
Agreements, which had been in place since 28 August 2018:

The exclusive operation service agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide, Houhai
Culture and the Original PRC Equity Owners pursuant to
which Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture agreed to engage
Guangzhou Huohua as its exclusive consultant and service
provider. Guangzhou Huohua has the exclusive right to
provide Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture with consulting
services including but not limited to: (1) provision of advice on
the operations of the movie and drama production business;
(2) management and consultation related to the movie and
drama production business, and training of the staff; (3)
provision of advice on human resources; (4) assistance on
market research;(5) selection and introductions of clients; (6)
formulation of operation and sales strategies; (7) quality control
of the movie and drama production business; and (8) provision
of advice on financing.

Guangzhou Daide shall pay to Guangzhou Huohua a service
fee which is equal to 100% of its audited annual distributable
profits (after deduction of any loss of the previous year and
statutory provident fund (if applicable)) before 30 June of every
year. The services fee was determined by the parties to ensure
that Guangzhou Huohua will enjoy the economic benefits of
the VIE Operating Agreements.

The first exclusive option agreement was entered into
between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and
the Original PRC Equity Owners (the “Exclusive Option
Agreement 1), and the second exclusive option agreement
was entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou
Daide and Houhai Culture (the “Exclusive Option Agreement
2" and together with the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, the
"Exclusive Option Agreements”).

Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 1, each of the
Original PRC Equity Owners irrevocably and unconditionally
granted an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which
entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time,
when permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or any
part of the equity interest in the Guangzhou Daide by itself
or through its designated person(s); and Guangzhou Daide
irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive option to
Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou Huohua to elect
to purchase at any time, when permitted by the then applicable
PRC laws, all or any part of the assets of Guangzhou Daide by
itself or through its designated person(s).
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Pursuant to the Exclusive Option Agreement 2, Guangzhou
Daide irrevocably and unconditionally granted an exclusive
option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles Guangzhou
Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when permitted by
the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the equity interest
in Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated person(s);
and Houhai Culture irrevocably and unconditionally granted
an exclusive option to Guangzhou Huohua which entitles
Guangzhou Huohua to elect to purchase at any time, when
permitted by the then applicable PRC laws, all or part of the
assets of Houhai Culture by itself or through its designated
person(s).

The transfer price of the relevant equity interests and assets
shall be the minimum purchase price permitted under PRC
law, and each of the Original PRC Equity Owners, Guangzhou
Daide and the Houhai Culture will undertake that she/he/it
will return in full the consideration received in relation to such
transfer of equity interests or assets to Guangzhou Huohua or
its designated person(s). The exercise price was determined
by the parties to ensure that WOFE will enjoy the economic
benefits of the VIE Operating Agreements.

The first entrustment agreement and powers of attorney
was entered into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou
Daide and the Original PRC Equity Owners (the “Entrustment
Agreement and Powers of Attorney 1"”), and the second
entrustment agreement and powers of attorney was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture (the “Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2").
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Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 1, each of the Original PRC Equity Owners irrevocably
appointed Guangzhou Huohua or its designated person(s)
(other than the PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to
act for all matters pertaining to the Guangzhou Daide and to
exercise all of their rights as shareholders of the Guangzhou
Daide, including but not limited to: (i) proposing to convene
and attend shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou
Daide;(ii) exercising all the voting rights as shareholders
of the Guangzhou Daide; (iii) dealing with the rights as a
shareholder to the assets and profits of the Guangzhou Daide;
(iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of the Guangzhou
Daide; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings of
shareholders’ meetings of the Guangzhou Daide, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose; (vi) receiving the remaining assets of the
Guangzhou Daide upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii)
exercising all other shareholders’ rights under other applicable
PRC laws and regulations and the articles of association (as
amended from time to time) of the Guangzhou Daide.

Pursuant to the Entrustment Agreement and Powers of
Attorney 2, Guangzhou Daide irrevocably appoints Guangzhou
Huohua or its designated person(s) (other than the Original
PRC Equity Owners) as its attorney-in-fact to act for all
matters pertaining to Houhai Culture and to exercise all of its
rights as the shareholder of Houhai Culture, including but not
limited to: (i) proposing to convene and attend shareholders’
meetings of Houhai Culture; (ii) exercising all the voting
rights as shareholders of Houhai Culture; (iii) dealing with the
rights as a shareholder to the assets and profits of Houhai
Culture; (iv) transferring or disposing of the shares of Houhai
Culture; (v) receiving notice of convening and proceedings
of shareholders’ meetings of the Houhai Culture, signing
minutes of shareholders’ meetings and submitting any
documents to relevant company registration authorities for
filing purpose;(vi) receiving the remaining assets of Houhai
Culture upon its dissolution or liquidation; and (vii) exercising all
other shareholders’ rights under other applicable PRC laws and
regulations and the articles of association (as amended from
time to time) of Houhai Culture.

The first equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and the Original PRC
Equity Owners (the “Equity Pledge Agreement 1"), and the
second equity pledge agreement was entered into between
Guangzhou Huohua, Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture (the
"Equity Pledge Agreement 2", and together with the Equity
Pledge Agreement 1, the “Equity Pledge Agreements”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 1, each of the
Original PRC Equity Owners agreed to pledge all of his/her
respective equity interests in Guangzhou Daide to Guangzhou
Huohua to secure performance of the obligations of himself/
herself and Guangzhou Daide under the VIE Operating
Agreements and pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement 2,
Guangzhou Daide agreed to pledge all of its respective equity
interests in Houhai Culture to Guangzhou Huohua to secure
the performance of obligations of itself and Houhai Culture
under the VIE Operating Agreements. Without the prior
written consent of Guangzhou Huohua, each of the Original
PRC Equity Owners and Guangzhou Daide has undertaken not
to create or allow to create any new pledge or encumbrance
over their respective interests in Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture.

The loan agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) was entered
into between Guangzhou Huohua and Guangzhou Daide.
Pursuant to the terms of the Loan Agreement, Guangzhou
Huohua shall provide a non-interest bearing loan facility in
the maximum principal amount of RMB450,000,000 (subject
to any downward adjustment as contemplated by the profit
guarantee agreement) to Guangzhou Daide for the purpose of
the acquisition of the entire equity interest of Houhai Culture.
The loan will be provided to Guangzhou Daide by installment
corresponding to Guangzhou Daide’s payment schedule under
the equity transfer agreement. The loan will be financed by
way of shareholder’s loan to be made available to Guangzhou
Huohua, with an annual interest rate of 7% and a term of
three years. The loan will be for a term of 20 years from the
respective drawdown date of each installment of the loan.
Guangzhou Daide shall repay the loan in full if Guangzhou
Huohua gives prior notice to Guangzhou Daide demanding for
repayment. Save as the demand notice given by Guangzhou
Huohua, Guangzhou Daide shall have no right of early
repayment.

The Spouses’ Undertakings

The spouse of the Original PRC Equity Owner Ms. Wang
executed a spouse confirmation, pursuant to which he
undertook and agreed, among others, (i) to acknowledge that
all the equity interests held by Ms. Wang in Guangzhou Daide
belong to herself and do not form part of the matrimonial
property, and any disposal of the equity interest held by Ms.
Wang pursuant to the relevant VIE Operating Agreements
does not require the consent of him; and that (ii) any execution
and amendment of any of the VIE Operating Agreements does
not require the signing, confirmation and consent of him. The
other Original PRC Equity Owner, Mr. Tang does not have a
spouse.
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On 4 August 2021, the respective spouse of the New PRC
Equity Owners Mr. Lin and Ms. Miao executed the spouse
confirmation to undertake and agree, among others, (i) to
acknowledge that all the equity interests held by Mr. Lin and
Ms. Miao in Guangzhou Daide belong to Mr. Lin himself and
Ms. Miao herself and do not form part of the matrimonial
property, and any disposal of the equity interest held by
Mr. Lin or Ms. Miao pursuant to the relevant VIE Operating
Agreements does not require the consent of their respective
spouse; and that (ii) any execution and amendment of any of
the VIE Operating Agreements does not require the signing,
confirmation and consent of their respective spouse.

The following are the risks associated with the Contractual
Arrangements. Further details of the risks were set out in the
circular of the Company dated 26 July 2018.

- There is no assurance that the VIE Operating Agreements
could comply with future changes in the regulatory
requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may
determine that the VIE Operating Agreements do not comply
with applicable regulations;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may not be as effective
in providing operational control as direct ownership and
Guangzhou Daide or its shareholders may fail to perform its
obligations under the VIE Operating Agreements;

- The Group may lose control over Houhai Culture and may
not enjoy the full economic benefits of Houhai Culture if
Houhai Culture declares bankruptcy or becomes subject to a
dissolution or liquidation proceeding;

- The VIE Operating Agreements may be subject to scrutiny
by the PRC tax authorities and additional taxes may be
imposed. A finding that the Group’s owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce the Group's net income;

- The shareholder(s) of Guangzhou Daide may have conflicts of
interest with the Group, which may materially and adversely
affect the Group's business and financial conditions;

- Certain terms of the VIE Operating Agreements may not be
enforceable under PRC law and enforcement of certain of the
Group’s rights under the VIE Operating Agreements is subject
to regulatory approval;
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A substantial amount of costs and time may be involved in
transferring the ownership of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture to the Group under the Exclusive Option Agreements;
and

The Group does not have any insurance which covers the risks
relating to the VIE Operating Agreements and the transactions
contemplated thereunder.

The Group adopted the following measures to mitigate against any
potential risk.

On 19 January 2015, the MOFCOM circulated Foreign
Investment Law (“FIL") of the PRC (Draft for Comment)
((REARKEMBEIINEKREE(ERHBKERR))) and the
Explanation on the draft PRC Foreign Investment Law ({ [
R(PREAREKMEINEREEZ(BEREKERR)) BUHAD)
(collectively the "“Draft Law"), which proposed changes to the
PRC foreign investment legal regime and the treatment of the
VIE structures, including contractual arrangement such as the
VIE Operating Agreements. The Draft Law, if finally adopted,
may have a material impact on the PRC foreign investment
legal regime. As such, as advised by the PRC legal advisers,
the Board will closely monitor the development of the Draft
Law with the help of the Company’s in house counsel in the
PRC and if there is any development, they will discuss with the
Company’s PRC legal advisers in order to assess any possible
impact arising from the change of the Draft Law or the FIL on
the VIE Operating Agreements and the business operation of
the Group. In case there would be material and adverse effect
on the Group or the business of Houhai Culture arising from
the Draft Law or the FIL, the Company will pursuant to Part
XIVA of the SFO, timely announce (i) any updates or material
changes to the Draft Law; (ii) in the event that the FIL has
been promulgated, a clear description and analysis of the law,
specific measures taken by the Company to be in compliance
with the FIL with the support of a PRC legal opinion; and (iii)
any material impact of the FIL on the Company’s operations
and financial position;

as part of the internal control measures, major issues arising
from the implementation of the VIE Operating Agreements
with Guangzhou Daide, the Original PRC Equity Owners or the
New PRC Equity Owners and Houhai Culture will be regularly
reviewed, at least on an annual basis, by the Board. The Board
will determine, as part of its periodic review process, whether
legal advisers and/or other professionals will be engaged to
assist the Group to deal with specific issues arising from the
VIE Operating Agreements;
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if the payment of the service fees from Guangzhou Daide to
Guangzhou Huohua is delayed, the chief financial officer must
meet with the Original PRC Equity Owners or the New PRC
Equity Owners to investigate, and should report any suspicious
matters to the Board,;

matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from
government authorities (if any) will be discussed at regular
meetings by the Board no less frequently than on a quarterly
basis;

the relevant business units and operation divisions of the
Group will report regularly, which will be no less frequently
than on a monthly basis, to the senior management of the
Company in relation to compliance and performance conditions
under the VIE Operating Agreements and other related
matters;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall conduct regular
site visits to Guangzhou Daide and Houhai Culture and conduct
personnel interviews quarterly and submit reports to the
Board;

the chief financial officer of the Company shall collect monthly
management accounts, bank statements and cash balances
and major operational data of Guangzhou Daide and Houhai
Culture for review. Upon discovery of any suspicious matters,
the chief financial officer must report to the Board;

any material contracts entered into by Guangzhou Daide and
Houhai Culture which is outside their respective ordinary
course of business must be approved by the Company;

Guangzhou Daide and the Original PRC Equity Owners and the
New PRC Equity Owners have undertaken that they will not
carry on, own or acquire any business which is in competition
with or is likely to be in competition with the business carried
on by Houhai Culture without the prior written consent of
Guangzhou Huohua; and

the Group will terminate the VIE Operating Agreements as
soon as the law allows the business to be operated without
them.
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There has not been any material change in the Contractual
Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which they were
adopted for the year ended 30 June 2022.

Pursuant to the relevant provisions of the VIE Operating
Agreements, Guangzhou Huohua has the right to unwind the VIE
Operating Agreements as soon as the relevant PRC laws allow
Guangzhou Huohua to register itself as the shareholder of Houhai
Culture. There has not been any unwinding of any Contractual
Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the
adoption of the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report, based on information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors, the Directors confirm that the Company maintained the
prescribed public float as required under the Listing Rules.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There was no material event subsequent to the end of the reporting
period.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 30 June 2022. For
details of the composition and the functions of the Audit Committee,
please refer to pages 61 to 62 of the Corporate Governance Report
contained in this annual report.
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AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu will retire, and being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. A resolution for their re-appointment as auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting. There is no change in the Company’s auditor for the three
years ended 30 June 2020, 2021 and 2022.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles of Association or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated, which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to
existing shareholders of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Zhang Liang, Johnson
Chairman

Hong Kong, 27 September 2022
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The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. The Company complied with all the
code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code")
as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) throughout
the year ended 30 June 2022, except for the deviation as mentioned
below.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.2 (re-numbered to Code Provision
F.2.2 under the new CG Code which came into effect on 1 January
2022) of the CG Code, the Chairman of the Board should attend
the annual general meeting. Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Chairman
of the Board was unable to attend the 2021 AGM due to his other
important commitment. Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick, an executive
Director chaired the 2021 AGM and opened to be questioned from
the shareholders of the Company.

The Company will continue to review its corporate governance
practices in order to enhance its corporate governance standard, to
comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory requirements and
to meet the rising expectations of the Company's shareholders and
investors.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by Directors on terms no less exacting than the
required standard of dealings set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Company Code").

Having made specific enquiries, all Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the required standard of dealings and the
Company Code during the year ended 30 June 2022.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of and
promoting the success of the Company. This is achieved by
setting up corporate and strategic objectives and policies, and the
monitoring and evaluations of operating activities and financial
performance of the Company.

All the Directors carry out their duties in good faith and in
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions
objectively and acting in the interests of the Company and the
Shareholders at all times.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson (Chairman)
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu (President)
Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick

Mr. Wang Bo
Mr. Xiang Feng
Mr. Chang Eric Jackson

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in “Profile of
Directors and Senior Management” on pages 19 to 25 of this annual
report. The composition of the Board is well balanced. Each of
the Directors has relevant expertise and extensive corporate and
strategic planning experiences that can contribute to the business of
the Group.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Company had complied
with Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules relating
to the appointment of at least three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board and at
least one of them has appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise. All the
independent non-executive Directors have met the guidelines for
the assessment of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules. The Board has received an annual confirmation
of independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers all the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent.

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Profile of Directors and
Senior Management” on pages 19 to 25 of this annual report, there
is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship(s)) among members of the Board and
the senior management of the Group.

Formal service contracts or letters of appointment have been issued
to the executive Directors and the independent non-executive
Directors respectively setting out the key terms and conditions of
their respective appointments.

The insurance cover in respect of any legal action against the
Directors and senior officers arising out of corporate activities is
covered by the Directors and Officers Liability Insurance Policy of
the Company.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The positions of Chairman and President, who serving the function
of Chief Executive Officer (“CEQ"), are held by Mr. Zhang Liang,
Johnson and Ms. Zhao Wenzhu respectively. Under the code
provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of Chairman and CEO
should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and
CEOQ should be clearly established and set out in writing.

The Chairman is responsible for the overall strategic planning
and policy-making of the Group while the Company’s business
development and daily management have been monitored by the
President together with the executive Directors as well as the senior
management of the Group.

The Company has no written terms on the general division of
responsibilities between the Chairman and the President. The Board
considers that the responsibilities of the Chairman and the President
are clear and distinctive and hence written terms thereof are not
necessary.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DELEGATION OF
FUNCTIONS

The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the
division of functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to
the management of the Group. The Board reserves for its decision
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, risk
management and internal control systems, material transactions
(in particular those that may involve conflict of interests), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial
and operational matters. Responsibilities relating to implementing
decisions of the Board, directing and coordinating the daily operation
and management of the Company are delegated to the management.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”) and senior management of the
Group, with a view to ensuring compliance with the Board procedures
and all applicable laws and regulations. Any Director may request
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the
Company's expense, upon reasonable request being made to the
Board. The day-to-day management, administration, and operations
of the Company are delegated to the executive Directors and senior
management of the Group. The Board has delegated a schedule of
responsibilities to these officers for the implementation of the Board
decisions. The Board periodically reviews the delegated functions
and work tasks. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, the
aforesaid officers have to obtain the Board's approval.

No corporate governance committee has been established by the
Company and the Board is responsible for performing the corporate
governance duties, which included:

(1)  developing and reviewing the policies and practices on
corporate governance of the Group;

(2)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management of the Group;

(3) to review and monitor the Group's policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(4) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

(5)  to review the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the corporate governance report of the Company.

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Board has reviewed the
Company's corporate governance policies and practices, training
and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance with the
Company’s Code, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

To strengthen and enhance the highest level of corporate
governance practices and conduct, the Company has adopted anti-
corruption policy, whistleblowing policy and board independence
evaluation mechanism during the year ended 30 June 2022.
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The anti-corruption policy has been adopted by the Company in
June 2022 setting out the basic standard of conduct which applies
to all directors, officers and employees of the Company, in order to
promote and support anti-corruption laws and regulations.

The whistleblowing policy has been adopted by the Company in
June 2022 to allow our employees or other stakeholders (e.g.
suppliers and customers) of the Company to raise concerns, in
confidence, with the Audit Committee about possible improprieties
in any matter related to the Company, in order to help detect and
deter misconduct or malpractice or unethical acts in the Company.

The board independence evaluation mechanism has also been
adopted by the Company in June 2022 in order to ensure a strong
independent element on the Board of the Company, which allows
the Board effectively exercises independent judgment to better
safeguard shareholders’ interests.

APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson, Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin
Kwong, Patrick, being all the executive Directors during the year
under review, had each entered into with the Company a service
contract for an initial fixed term of one year, three years and three
years commencing from 13 December 2017, 26 November 2018
and 1 December 2017 respectively renewable automatically until (i)
terminated by not less than respectively one month's, two months’
and one month’s notice in writing served by either party on the other
expiring at the end of the initial term or any time thereafter or (ii) not
being re-elected at an annual general meeting of the Company at
which he retires and offers for re-election.

Each of Mr. Wang Bo, Mr. Xiang Feng and Mr. Chang Eric
Jackson, being all the independent non-executive directors during
the year under review, had respectively renewed the letter of
appointment with the Company on 13 December 2018. Each letter
of appointment is for a term of one year from the date of the letter
of appointment and renewable automatically for successive terms
of one year each commencing from the next day after the expiry
of the then term of appointment but subject to the memorandum
and the articles of association of the Company. Their appointment
as independent non-executive directors of the Company shall be
terminated by either party giving not less than one month’s prior
notice in writing.
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Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Company’s Articles of Association, at
each annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time
being, or, if their number is not three or a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not less than one-third, shall retire from
office by rotation and shall be eligible for re-election. Every Director,
including those appointed for a specific term, shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Accordingly,
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu and Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick of the Company
will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting,
and being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the annual
general meeting.

BOARD MEETING, GENERAL MEETING AND
PROCEDURES

During the year ended 30 June 2022, the Board convened a total of
four board meetings and one general meeting has been held. The
following is the Directors’ attendance records of meetings held by
the Board:

Executive Directors HITESE

Mr. Zhang Liang, Johnson RESLE

Mr. Lee Hin Kwong, Patrick FENREAE
Ms. Zhao Wenzhu FE Tt
Independent Non-Executive Directors BUHBITEE
Mr. Wang Bo TRSEE

Mr. Xiang Feng ) I 55 A

Mr. Chang Eric Jackson SRS A

Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also held a
meeting with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Directors of the Company during the year.
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